© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

# Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Hydroxyurea

Peter R. Gwilt<sup>1</sup> and William G. Tracewell<sup>2</sup>

1 Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, Nebraska, USA

2 MDS Harris, Lincoln, Nebraska, USA

## Contents

Summary	347
1. Analytical Methodology	348
2. Pharmacokinetics	349
2.1 Absorption	349
2.2 Distribution	349
2.3 Metabolism	350
2.4 Elimination	350
2.5 Pharmacokinetic Models and Parameters	350
2.6 Regional Delivery	353
2.7 Drug Interactions Affecting Disposition and/or Effects	353
3. Pharmacodynamics	354
3.1 Efficacy and Toxicity	354
3.2 Concentration-Effect Relationships	354
4. Hydroxyurea in Diseases Other Than Cancer	355
4.1 Sickle-Cell Anaemia	355
4.2 AIDS	355
5. Conclusions	356

### Summary

Hydroxyurea is used in the treatment of various forms of cancer, sickle-cell anaemia and HIV infection. Oral absorption of the drug is virtually complete, the volume of distribution is equivalent to total body water and elimination is through both renal and nonrenal mechanisms. Nonrenal elimination of hydroxyurea is characterised by Michaelis-Menten kinetics.

Further studies are necessary to clarify several aspects of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of hydroxyurea: the effect of age and disease state, concentration–effect relationship, the role of therapeutic drug monitoring, and the mechanisms of renal and nonrenal elimination. The recent development of improved assays for hydroxyurea should have benefits for future pharmacokinetic studies.

Hydroxyurea was originally synthesised in Germany in 1869 by Dressler and Stein.<sup>[1]</sup> But it was not until 1928 that it was first administered to animals (by Rosenthal et al.<sup>[2]</sup>) and observed to produce leucopenia, macrocythaemia, anaemia and death. Later, in 1963, Stearns et al.<sup>[3]</sup> found hydroxyurea to be active against L1210 mouse leukaemia and subsequent phase I trials showed the drug to have significant activity against a number of malignancies. Its principal mechanism of cytotoxicity, the ability to inhibit DNA synthesis, was established shortly afterwards, in 1965.<sup>[4]</sup> Other mechanisms for the cytotoxicity of hydroxyurea have subsequently been proposed.<sup>[5]</sup> These include direct damage to DNA (possibly as the free radical) and inhibition of repair of spontaneous DNA lesions; however, inhibition of DNA synthesis is still regarded as the principal mechanism of cell death.

Hydroxyurea is a hydroxylated analogue of urea. It inhibits DNA synthesis by inhibiting the activity of ribonucleotide reductase<sup>[5,6]</sup> which transforms ribonucleotides into deoxyribonucleotides. This enzyme is synthesised in low amounts and is the only highly regulated enzyme involved in the conversion of ribonucleotide precursors to DNA.<sup>[7]</sup> Thus, it forms the rate-limiting step in the de novo synthesis of DNA. The enzyme consists of 2 protein dimers, M1 and M2. Dimer M1 contains binding sites for the ribonucleotide substrates. The M2 dimer is the catalytic subunit and includes a tyrosine free radical stabilised by a nonhaem iron complex. The stabilised tyrosine free radical functions to abstract a hydrogen atom from the ribonucleotide substrate.<sup>[8]</sup> Hydroxyurea inhibits enzyme activity by a 1-electron transfer from hydroxyurea to the enzyme-bound tyrosine radical.<sup>[9]</sup> It has also been suggested that hydroxyurea may destabilise the nonhaem iron centre, thereby inactivating the M2 catalytic subunit.<sup>[9]</sup>

It appears that the hydroxyurea-inactivated enzyme can regenerate spontaneously upon removal of hydroxyurea.<sup>[10]</sup> Unlike a number of the antineoplastic agents, the pharmacological action of hydroxyurea is, therefore, highly dependent upon the concentration-time course of the drug in the body (i.e. its pharmacokinetics). Furthermore, because of its mechanism of action, hydroxyurea principally affects cells actively synthesising DNA. In this respect, the drug is cell-cycle specific for the S-phase. Because of the highly regulated nature of ribonucleotide reductase, the short transit time of the S-phase of the cell cycle and the relatively rapid elimination of hydroxyurea, optimal drug therapy is likely to be achieved by multiple (or continuous) drug administration which maintains hydroxyurea concentrations above the concentration of drug that inhibits activity by 50% (IC<sub>50</sub>) (approximately 0.5 mmol/L)<sup>[11]</sup> for ribonucleotide reductase.

#### 1. Analytical Methodology

Most of the literature describing the pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea has relied upon spectrophotometric or colorimetric assay methods. These have evolved since the earliest method described by Davidson and Winter.<sup>[12]</sup> The spectrophotometric assay currently used was developed by Philips et al.<sup>[13]</sup> and modified by Fabricius and Rajewsky.<sup>[14]</sup> Using this assay, hydroxyurea in plasma is reacted with iodine and the products are then coupled with a chromophore that absorbs at 540nm. The authors reported a limit of detection of 0.033 mmol/L. Similar limits of detection were reported by Tracewell et al.<sup>[15]</sup> (0.01 mmol/L) and Veale et al.<sup>[16]</sup> (0.01 mmol/L). Because the concentration of hydroxyurea required to be effective in vivo is much greater than the assay limit, the lack of assay sensitivity does not appear to pose a problem in determining the pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in humans or animals.

Perhaps more troubling is the uncertainty regarding the specificity of this assay. While urea does not interfere with the assay, a lack of knowledge regarding the metabolites of the drug raises concerns about their contribution, particularly in light of the chemical treatment of the sample.

Havard et al.<sup>[17]</sup> have reported a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) assay with electrochemical detection (ED) for use in pharmacokinetic studies. The reported limit of detection is similar to that of the method of Fabricius and Rajewsky.<sup>[14]</sup> Villani et al.<sup>[18]</sup> recently used this assay, with minor modifications, to study the pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in patients with HIV infection. The limit of detection was reported as 0.0006 mmol/L. The reason for the marked difference in the limits of detection between the 2 assays is not apparent. Villani et al.<sup>[18]</sup> included the use of solid phase extraction columns as part of serum sample preparation, perhaps removing an interfering substrate. A recently published article also describes a method of determination for hydroxyurea using HPLC with ED.<sup>[19]</sup> The limit of quantitation in plasma was 25  $\mu$ g/L (approximately 0.33  $\mu$ mol/L), which confirms the sensitivity reported by Villani et al.,<sup>[18]</sup> and in peritoneal fluid was 5  $\mu$ g/L (approximately 0.066  $\mu$ mol/L).

El-Yazigi and Al-Rawithi<sup>[20]</sup> used capillary gas chromatography with thermionic nitrogenphosphorus specific detection to study the stability of hydroxyurea in aqueous solution. The sensitivity of the assay (0.07 mmol/L) appears to be no greater than the existing assays.

#### 2. Pharmacokinetics

Detailed, formal assessments of the pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in animals and humans have only recently appeared in the literature. The recently published articles coupled with the observations of earlier researchers provide considerable information regarding the absorption and disposition of hydroxyurea. This is discussed below.

#### 2.1 Absorption

Hydroxyurea crosses the intestinal wall by passive diffusion.<sup>[21]</sup> Based upon the physicochemical characteristics of hydroxyurea [i.e. freely water soluble, log partition coefficient of -1.27, lack of ionisation in the gastrointestinal tract (pKa = 10.6)], it is anticipated that at therapeutic oral doses of 20 to 30 mg/kg, the drug is reasonably well absorbed. This has been shown in studies on animals and humans. Following oral administration of hydroxyurea to mice and rats, Adamson et al.<sup>[22]</sup> recovered only 0.1 and 0.8%, respectively, of the drug in faeces.

Pharmacokinetic studies in the rat gave an oral bioavailability of 73%.<sup>[23]</sup> In patients with cancer, hydroxyurea was found to be 79% available to the systemic circulation following oral administration.<sup>[15]</sup> Previous clinical studies support fairly complete bioavailability as plasma concentrations

are comparable following long term intravenous and oral administration.<sup>[24]</sup>

#### 2.2 Distribution

Hydroxyurea enters cells via passive diffusion.<sup>[25]</sup> Tissue concentrations of hydroxyurea are in rapid equilibration with those in the blood and the time-course of hydroxyurea concentrations in tissues, including transplantable solid animal tumours, parallel hydroxyurea blood concentrations.<sup>[14]</sup> Thus, blood concentrations appear to reflect tumour-tissue hydroxyurea concentrations. Hydroxyurea also rapidly diffuses into tissues such as the brain.<sup>[26]</sup>

Pharmacokinetic analysis in both rats and humans indicate that hydroxyurea has a volume of distribution approximately equal to total body water.<sup>[15,23]</sup> The extent of binding to proteins in the blood has not been published. Some insight into this interaction might be gained by considering the findings of Beckloff et al.<sup>[27]</sup> These investigators measured hydroxyurea concentrations in both ascites fluid (n = 6) and cerebrospinal fluid (n = 3)simultaneously with serum hydroxyurea concentrations in humans. Because hydroxyurea appears to rapidly equilibrate with body tissues and fluids, and ascites and cerebrospinal fluid are low in protein content, these ratios can be considered to represent ratios of unbound drug to total drug (i.e. both bound and unbound) in the serum.

The ratio of ascites fluid to serum hydroxyurea concentrations (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) was  $0.25 \pm 0.15$  and cerebrospinal fluid to serum was  $0.20 \pm 0.07$ . This suggests that hydroxyurea is 75 to 80% bound to serum proteins. It should also be noted that the serum concentration range studied in this report varied from 12.4 to 156.8 mg/L without any indication of nonlinearity in the apparent fraction unbound. In contrast with these results, however, are those of P.R. Gwilt who studied the *in vitro* binding of hydroxyurea is not appreciably bound (unpublished results).

#### 2.3 Metabolism

A significant fraction of hydroxyurea is eliminated from the body by nonrenal mechanisms. It has been assumed that this fraction primarily represents hepatic metabolism. Little work has been performed, however, to verify this or to characterise the products of metabolism. Adamson et al.<sup>[22]</sup> noted that between 30 and 50% of an intraperitoneally administered hydroxyurea dose was recovered in the urine as urea. They further demonstrated that hydroxyurea was reduced to urea in several tissues in the mouse. The most efficient biotransformation occurred in the liver and kidneys. Colvin and Bono<sup>[28]</sup> showed that the conversion of hydroxyurea to urea in mouse liver was mediated by the mono-oxygenase system located in the liver mitochondria. Andrae<sup>[29]</sup> has also established the importance of hepatic cytochrome P450 (CYP) mono-oxygenase in the metabolism of hydroxyurea.

Davidson and Winter<sup>[12]</sup> demonstrated degradation of hydroxyurea by urease, possibly producing hydroxylamine. In mammals, urease appears to be limited to the gut, and hydroxylamine has not been observed in the blood. Fishbein and Carbone<sup>[30]</sup> proposed that hydroxylamine is produced *in vivo* but is subsequently rapidly methylated by acetylcoenzyme A to produce acetohydroxamic acid. In support of this theory, these investigators were able to measure acetohydroxamic acid in the blood of 3 patients with chronic myelogenous leukaemia and to estimate that between 1 and 10% of administered hydroxyurea is converted to acetohydroxamic acid.

In view of the widespread use of this drug and the diversity of indications, it is unfortunate that a detailed analysis of the biotransformation of hydroxyurea, using modern analytical techniques, has not appeared in the literature since Colvin and Bono<sup>[28]</sup> reported their work in 1970.

#### 2.4 Elimination

As described in section 2.3, hydroxyurea is eliminated, in part, by metabolism to urea and other products. Hydroxyurea has also been recovered unchanged in the urine. In both rats and humans, hydroxyurea renal clearance has been determined to be 75% of the glomerular filtration rate (GFR).<sup>[15,23]</sup> In the case of humans, with an average GFR of 7.2 L/h, renal clearance is about 5.4 L/h. Renal clearance, in rats at least, is independent of dose over a wide dose range.<sup>[23]</sup>

## 2.5 Pharmacokinetic Models and Parameters

A nonlinear relationship between plasma hydroxyurea concentrations and dose is apparent in virtually every animal and human pharmacokinetic study reported, whether the study describes single or continuous hydroxyurea administration. In many cases, linearity has been claimed, but upon closer inspection, the pharmacokinetics are seen to be more consistent with Michaelis-Menten elimination. For example, a recent study of the pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in mice claimed a linear relationship between hydroxyurea plasma concentration and dose.<sup>[31]</sup> However, the regression line relating concentration to dose had a markedly negative intercept on the ordinate, consistent with saturable elimination. A linear relationship would have been characterised by an intercept not different from zero.

Nonlinearity is also evident from clinical trial data (table I). Beckloff et al.<sup>[27]</sup> reported plasma hydroxyurea concentrations following both oral doses of 20 and 80 mg/kg. The area under the plasma concentration-time curves (AUC) for hydroxyurea differed by a factor of more than 6 rather than by the factor of 4 which would be predicted by linear kinetics. In the study by Belt et al.,<sup>[24]</sup> hydroxyurea was infused to steady state at rates varying from 2.0 to 3.5 mg/min/m<sup>2</sup>. A plot of the resulting steady-state plasma concentrations versus infusion rates is curvilinear (concave up), whereas linear elimination kinetics would result in a straight line relationship.

More recently, Charache et al.<sup>[34]</sup> reported plasma concentrations in patients with sickle-cell anaemia receiving oral doses ranging from 10 to 35 mg/kg. Despite assertions by these authors of a linear

hydroxyurea
đ
tinetics (
oharmacok
the
đ
studies o
7
I. Summary
Ð
Tabl

Dose (route)	Assay <sup>a</sup>	с	t <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	PA	C <sub>max</sub> and C <sub>min</sub>	CL and CL <sub>R</sub>	F (%) Reference
20 mg/kg (oral)	Analytical technique by Davidson and Winter <sup>[12]</sup> used	4	3.4 <sup>b</sup>		C <sub>max</sub> = 276.3 mmol/L		27
80 mg/kg (oral)		10	3.9 <sup>b</sup>	$V/F = 0.48 L/kg^b$	C <sub>max</sub> = 1684 mmol/L	$CL/F = 114.5 ml/min^b$	
60 mg/kg (oral)	Analytical technique by Davidson and Winter <sup>[12]</sup> used	7	3.9 <sup>b</sup>	V/F = 1.62 L/kg <sup>b</sup>	C <sub>max</sub> = 381.6 mmol/L	CL/F = 360.4 ml/min <sup>b</sup>	32
100 mg/kg (oral)		9	3.9 <sup>b</sup>	V/F = 0.74 L/kg <sup>b</sup>	C <sub>max</sub> = 1526.3 mmol/L	CL/F = 153.2 ml/min <sup>b</sup>	
100 mg/kg (oral)	Analytical technique by Fabricius and Rajewsky <sup>[14]</sup> used	-	1.9 <sup>b</sup>	V/F = 0.75 L/kg <sup>b</sup>	C <sub>max</sub> = 1300 mmol/L	$CL/F = 316.0 \text{ ml/min}^{b}$	14
500 mg/m² q4h (oral)	Analytical technique by Fabricius and Rajewsky <sup>[14]</sup> used	ю			C <sub>max,ss</sub> = 990 mmol/L C <sub>min,ss</sub> = 460 mmol/L		24
800 mg/m <sup>2</sup> q4h (oral)		4			C <sub>max,ss</sub> = 2480 mmol/L		
2.0 mg/m²/min (continuous infusion for 72h)		Q	4.1		C <sub>ss</sub> = 488 mmol/L	CL = 53.8 ml/min/m <sup>2c</sup>	
2.25 mg/m²/min (continuous infusion for 72h)		N	4.45		C <sub>ss</sub> = 460 mmol/L	CL = 64.3 ml/min/m <sup>2c</sup>	
2.5 mg/m²/min (continuous infusion for 72h)		4	3.75		C <sub>ss</sub> = 537 mmol/L	CL = 61.3 ml/min/m <sup>2</sup> °	
2.75 mg/m²/min (continuous infusion for 72h)		-	3.67		C <sub>ss</sub> = 760 mmol/L	CL = 47.7 ml/min/m <sup>2c</sup>	
3.0 mg/m <sup>2</sup> /min (continuous infusion for 72h)		7	4.27		C <sub>ss</sub> = 1090 mmol/L	CL = 36.2 ml/min/m <sup>2c</sup>	
1000 mg/h q6h (oral)	Analytical technique by Fabricius and Rajewsky <sup>[14]</sup> used	18 (9 oral and 9 IV			C <sub>max,ss</sub> = 2000 mmol/L C <sub>min,ss</sub> = 1000 mmol/L		16
1000 mg/h (IV infusion for 48h)		infusion)			C <sub>ss,av</sub> = 1730 mmol/L	CL = 126.8 ml/min	
1 g/m <sup>2</sup> /day (continuous infusion for 120h) [n = 3]	Analytical technique by Fabricius and Rajewsky <sup>[14]</sup> used	18	2.8		C <sub>ss</sub> = 93 μmol/L	CL <sub>R</sub> = 2.7 L/h/m <sup>2</sup> ; CL <sub>NR</sub> = 3.6 L/h/m <sup>2</sup>	33
2 g/m <sup>2</sup> /day (continuous infusion for 120h) [n = 9]			3.2		$C_{ss} = 230 \ \mu mol/L$	CL <sub>R</sub> = 1.8 L/h/m <sup>2</sup> ; CL <sub>NR</sub> = 3.0 L/h/m <sup>2</sup>	
							Continued over page

Table I. Contd								
Dose (route)	Assay <sup>a</sup>	ч	t <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	PA	C <sub>max</sub> and C <sub>min</sub>	CL and CLR	F(%)	Reference
3.2 g/m <sup>2</sup> /day (continuous infusion for 120h) [n = 6]			3.7		C <sub>ss</sub> = 302 µmol/L	CL <sub>R</sub> = 2.6 L/h/m <sup>2</sup> ; CL <sub>NR</sub> = 4.0 L/h/m <sup>2</sup>		
20 mmol/m² q6h (oral)	Analytical technique by Fabricius and Rajewsky <sup>114</sup> used	ω	dependent on plasma concentration range	Vd = 0.186 × bodyweight (kg) + 25.4L		CL <sub>NR</sub> : V <sub>max</sub> = 3.71 mmol/h (or 95.6 μmol/h/L) Km = 0.32 mmol/L	40	15
1.9-24.3 mmol/h (IV infusion every 24 or 48h)		46	1.6-4.2			CL <sub>R</sub> = 90.8 ml/min		
a All assays were perfor b The pharmacokinetic p (Statistical Consultants	med using spectrophotometric meth arameters were obtained by extract inc., Apex, North Carolina, USA).	iods. ting the da	ta from figures	in the text reference.	d and fitting the data to	a pharmacokinetic model u	using PCN	lonlin

Clearance was determined by dividing the infusion rate by the steady-state hydroxyurea plasma concentration. ပ

*Abbreviations:* C<sub>max</sub> = maximum plasma drug concentration; C<sub>max,ss</sub> = maximum drug plasma concentration at steady state; C<sub>min</sub> = minimum drug plasma concentration; C<sub>min,ss</sub> = minimum drug plasma concentration; C<sub>min,ss</sub> = minimum drug plasma concentration at steady state; C<sub>ss</sub> = concentration; C<sub>ss</sub> = conc clearance; CL<sub>NR</sub> = total nonrenal drug clearance; CL/F = apparent clearance; F = bioavailability; h = hours; IV = intravenous; Km = Michaelis-Menton constant; n = number of patients;  $t_{12}$  = half-life; Vd = volume of distribution; V/F = apparent volume of distribution. landscape table

CP5TRACX.chp

relationship between dose and plasma concentration, the figure used to demonstrate the relationship is markedly curvilinear, concave up. Since renal clearance is linear with dose, the nonlinear pharmacokinetics might be attributable to saturable metabolism.

Two recent studies using relatively low dosages of hydroxyurea demonstrate apparent linear pharmacokinetics. Villani et al.<sup>[18]</sup> administered oral doses of hydroxyurea 500mg every 12 hours for 4 weeks to 9 patients with HIV-1 infection. Serum hydroxyurea was measured between 1 and 4 weeks after the start of hydroxyurea therapy. A mean maximum serum concentration of 135 µmol/L hydroxyurea was obtained and the pharmacokinetics of the drug were satisfactorily described by a linear, 1-compartment model. Newman et al.<sup>[33]</sup> administered hydroxyurea by continuous infusion for 120 hours at 3 dosage levels  $(1.0, 2.0 \text{ and } 3.2 \text{ g/m}^2/\text{day})$ . The average steady-state hydroxyurea plasma concentrations were 93, 230 and 302 µmol/L, respectively, reflecting a linear relationship between hydroxyurea infusion rate and steady-state concentrations. Both of these studies reported hydroxyurea concentrations below the Michaelis-Menten constant value of 307 µmol/L reported by Tracewell et al.,<sup>[15]</sup> although the second study clearly approaches that value.

Based upon both animal and human data, the most appropriate pharmacokinetic model for hydroxyurea requires elimination to be described by parallel Michaelis-Menten nonrenal elimination and linear renal elimination.[15,23] Furthermore, such a model predicts that a low hydroxyurea dose, the plasma concentration-time curve would be log linear (i.e. linear on a semi-log scale) because the nonrenal elimination pathway would be below the level of saturation.<sup>[18,33]</sup> At an intermediate dose, the concentration-time curve would be nonlinear on a semi-log scale because of saturation of the nonrenal pathway.<sup>[15,24]</sup> At a high dose, the shape of the concentration-time curve would revert to linear on a semi-log scale as the contribution of the nonrenal pathway is saturated and contributes less to the overall elimination of hydroxyurea.<sup>[23]</sup> This also suggests that renal function is particularly important in patients receiving high dosages of hydroxyurea therapy. This model was successfully used to fit plasma and urine hydroxyurea data in rats,<sup>[23]</sup> as well as plasma hydroxyurea obtained from 54 patients receiving escalating infusions and oral doses of hydroxyurea.<sup>[15]</sup> It was not successful, however, in accurately predicting plasma hydroxyurea concentrations in those patients receiving the fastest infusions (>14 mmol/h). The reason for this appeared to be because of the large variance in renal function in these patients; however, including creatinine clearance as a covariate in the model did not result in a statistically significant difference.<sup>[15]</sup>

#### 2.6 Regional Delivery

Pharmacokinetic theory suggests that regional delivery is advantageous only when the arterial blood flow to the target tissue is much smaller than the total body clearance of the drug.<sup>[35]</sup> The maximum total body clearance of hydroxyurea in humans can be calculated to be about 18 L/h (table I). As most tissues have blood flows of this order or greater,<sup>[36]</sup> regional delivery is not likely to offer any significant therapeutic advantage.

## 2.7 Drug Interactions Affecting Disposition and/or Effects

No studies of pharmacokinetic interactions between hydroxyurea and other drugs appeared in the literature. However, modulation by hydroxyurea of the cytotoxic effects of other antineoplastic agents has been reported. Hydroxyurea influences the activity of other anticancer drugs by 1 of 3 mechanisms:<sup>[37]</sup>

- by depleting the cellular pool of deoxyribonucleotides, the activities of pyrimidine and purine antimetabolites are enhanced
- by inhibiting DNA repair, the activities of topoisomerase inhibitors and alkylating agents are increased
- by accelerating the loss of extrachromosomal amplified genes, hydroxyurea may reverse acquired drug resistance to several anticancer drugs.

The first interaction is represented by combination therapy with cytarabine. Through hydroxyurea depleting endogenous pools of deoxycytidine triphosphate, the uptake of cytarabine, its phosphorylation to cytosine arabinoside triphosphate (ara-CTP), the binding of ara-CTP to DNA polymerase, and subsequent incorporation into DNA was increased.<sup>[38,39]</sup> The combination of the 2 drugs in a phase II clinical trial involving patients with refractory malignant lymphoma resulted in a 43% response rate.<sup>[40]</sup>

Enhancement of the activity of fluorouracil by hydroxyurea has also been reported.[41] One mechanism by which fluorouracil causes cytotoxicity is inhibition of thymidylate synthetase. The natural substrate for this enzyme is deoxyuridine monophosphate. Fluorouracil produces a metabolite, fluorodeoxyuridine monophosphate, which competes with the natural substrate for thymidylate synthetase but forms a covalent ternary complex. Hydroxyurea reduces the pool of deoxyuridine monophosphate and thus increases the amount of complex formed, leading to greater inhibition of thymidylate synthetase and reduced DNA synthesis. This interaction is particularly effective in patients who have developed resistance to fluorouracil because of an accumulation of deoxyuridine monophosphate.<sup>[41]</sup>

The same rationale supports the combined use of hydroxyurea and antiviral agents such as zidovudine (azidothymidine) and didanosine to inhibit viral DNA synthesis in patients with HIV infection. However, the interaction of hydroxyurea with fluorouracil may be less predictable than with these other agents because 1 of the metabolic pathways from fluorouracil to fluorodeoxyuridine monophosphate requires ribonucleotide reductase,<sup>[42]</sup> which is inhibited by hydroxyurea.

The second type of interaction is thought to involve the inhibition of DNA repair by hydroxyurea.<sup>[43]</sup> In a report by Minford et al.,<sup>[44]</sup> hydroxyurea enhanced protein-associated DNA strand cleavage produced by amsacrine. In another study,<sup>[45]</sup> synergism was observed when hydroxyurea was administered with etoposide. Finally, a combination of cytarabine and hydroxyurea with cisplatin produced persistence in DNA interstrand crosslinks, suggesting inhibition of DNA repair.<sup>[46]</sup> The mechanisms that characterise hydroxyurea modulation of other anticancer drugs suggest that the scheduling of their administration with respect to hydroxyurea is critical to realise optimal modulation.

The third type of interaction relates to accelerated loss of extrachromosomal-amplified genes upon continuous exposure to hydroxyurea. These genes are responsible for the overexpression of: (i) dihydrofolate reductase, resulting in methotrexateresistant cells; (ii) MDR1 (a multidrug resistance gene responsible for production of *P*. glycoprotein) in vinblastin-resistant cells; and (iii) carbamylphosphate synthetase, aspartate transcarbamylase and dihydro-orotase in N-(phosphonacetyl)-Laspartic acid-resistant cells. Thus, in resistant cells, hydroxyurea potentiates the activity of the aforementioned drugs.<sup>[47-49]</sup>

#### 3. Pharmacodynamics

#### 3.1 Efficacy and Toxicity

The principal therapeutic use for hydroxyurea in cancer chemotherapy is the treatment of myeloproliferative disorders such as chronic myelogenous leukaemia and polycythaemia rubra vera.<sup>[50,51]</sup> The effectiveness of hydroxyurea has also been evaluated in the treatment of solid tumours such as malignant melanoma, refractory ovarian cancer, squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, renal cell carcinoma, transition cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder<sup>[52,53]</sup> and advanced prostate cancer.<sup>[54]</sup> The response rates of these malignancies is low and hydroxyurea is not part of standard chemotherapy for any solid tumour.

Hydroxyurea has proved to be an effective radiation sensitiser and has been employed in this role in the treatment of head and neck cancer.<sup>[55]</sup> Hydroxyurea has also been used with some success in advanced cervical carcinoma, producing an increase in response and survival with concurrent therapy.<sup>[56,57]</sup> A potential clinical use for hydroxyurea is in the management of drug resistance. It has been demonstrated that hydroxyurea can accelerate the elimination of extrachromasomally-amplified genes with a corresponding increase in drug sensitivity.<sup>[47-49]</sup>

Hydroxyurea is also indicated in diseases other than cancer. It is now the principal drug used to treat sickle-cell anaemia<sup>[34]</sup> (see section 4.1). Hydroxyurea is also effective in the treatment of psoriasis<sup>[58]</sup> and, recently, hydroxyurea has been found to inhibit HIV-1 replication at relatively low concentrations in patients with AIDS<sup>[59]</sup> (also discussed in section 4.2).

The dose-limiting toxicity of hydroxyurea is mvelosuppression, with leucopenia being predominant.[60] Since nonhaematological toxicity is usually mild, inclusion of the drug in therapy requiring bone marrow transplantation is reasonable and is currently under investigation.<sup>[61]</sup> Patients receiving hydroxyurea may experience nausea and vomiting accompanied by either diarrhoea or constipation.<sup>[62]</sup> Large oral doses of the drug may cause ulceration and occasionally stomatitis. Long term administration of hydroxyurea also leads to dermatological changes, such as hyperpigmentation and erythemia of the hands and face.<sup>[62]</sup> Rare complications include nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity and elevation of hepatocellular enzymes.<sup>[62]</sup> Hydroxyurea is also teratogenic.<sup>[63]</sup>

#### 3.2 Concentration-Effect Relationships

The cytotoxic effects of hydroxyurea correlate with dose or concentration, as well as with duration of drug exposure.<sup>[64,65]</sup> A 1 mmol/L concentration of hydroxyurea will inhibit DNA synthesis in most mammalian cells.<sup>[64]</sup> Hydroxyurea concentrations measured in a transplanted mammary tumour in the rat equalled those in the blood.<sup>[14]</sup> It is likely then that monitoring blood hydroxyurea concentrations to maintain drug concentrations equal to, or above, 1 mmol/L would optimise and individualise hydroxyurea chemotherapy. Several investigators have demonstrated that drug blood concentration of 1 mmol/L can be maintained without undue adverse effects using prolonged infusion.<sup>[16,24,66]</sup> Clinical trials are currently underway to study the therapeutic advantages of monitoring and adjusting hydroxyurea blood concentrations during infusion therapy to maintain a minimum concentration of 1 mmol/L hydroxyurea.

Therapeutic monitoring may also be desirable in the use of hydroxyurea to reverse drug resistance because of gene amplification, since concentrations of hydroxyurea above 0.3 mmol/L reportedly increase gene amplification.<sup>[67]</sup>

## 4. Hydroxyurea in Diseases Other Than Cancer

### 4.1 Sickle-Cell Anaemia

Indications of changes in the pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in individuals with altered physiological or pathological states are suggested by those investigating the use of hydroxyurea in the treatment of sickle-cell anaemia. In 1 study,<sup>[34]</sup> the mean AUC of hydroxyurea measured over 6 hours following oral ingestion (AUC<sub>6</sub>) correlated with the ages of the patients (r = 0.47, p = 0.007), where the distribution of age was described (mean  $\pm$ standard deviation) as  $27.6 \pm 6.3$  years. While the range of ages studied was not large, a relationship between clearance and age is not unexpected for a drug that is significantly eliminated by the kidney. It was further found that the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) was significantly higher in men than women (with a mean MTD of 24.2 vs 17.5 mg/kg; p = 0.01). The toxicity measured was bone marrow depression. MTD, however, did not correlate with the AUC. In the same study, the  $AUC_6$  did not correlate with baseline serum creatinine or creatinine clearance.

In earlier studies by the same investigators,<sup>[68]</sup> mean serum creatinine levels (with a range of 0.5 to 1.1 mg/dl during therapy for each patient correlated significantly with 6-hour plasma hydroxy-urea concentrations (r = 0.85, p = 0.01). In a population pharmacokinetic study of hydroxyurea by Tracewell et al.,<sup>[15]</sup> including creatinine clearance in the model just failed to achieve a statistically

significant improvement in the fit (0.01 .Thus, despite some results to the contrary,<sup>[68]</sup> it does seem very probable that renal dysfunction will affect the pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea, given the contribution of the kidneys to the elimination of hydroxyurea.

#### 4.2 AIDS

A principal component of the treatment of patients infected with HIV is the administration of nucleoside analogues such as zidovudine and didanosine. However, the therapeutic benefits of these compounds are temporary and improved therapy is urgently needed.

*In vitro* studies have shown that hydroxyurea inhibits HIV replication.<sup>[59,69,70]</sup> This effect is greatly enhanced when hydroxyurea is used in combination with nucleoside analogues, particularly didanosine. The antiretroviral effects of hydroxyurea are because of the depletion of intracellular deoxyribonucleotides. This depletion further permits increased cellular uptake of nucleoside analogues.

Several clinical trials have been performed to evaluate the effects of hydroxyurea alone<sup>[71,72]</sup> and combined administration of hydroxyurea and nucleoside analogues in patients with HIV.<sup>[73-75]</sup> Overall, the combination therapy is well tolerated and accompanied by a significant reduction in plasma viral load that is related to hydroxyurea dosage. Monotherapy with hydroxyurea has not been shown to be beneficial in patients with HIV infection.

As part of a clinical trial, Villani et al.<sup>[18]</sup> examined the pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea. Oral doses of 500mg every 12 hours were administered for 4 weeks to 9 patients with HIV-1, 5 of whom continued to take zidovudine (250mg every 12 hours) while the other 4 were maintained on hydroxyurea alone. The pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea were modelled using a linear, 1-compartment model. In this case linear kinetics were appropriate because the serum concentrations were low compared with those used in cancer chemotherapy. A mean half-life of 2.5 hours and an apparent clearance (CL/F) of 0.182 L/h/kg were reported. Based on *in vitro* studies<sup>[59,70,76]</sup> and clinical studies with similar hydroxyurea dosage regimens,<sup>[73-75]</sup> the hydroxyurea concentrations achieved in the study by Villani et al.<sup>[18]</sup> [showing mean minimum and maximum drug concentrations ( $C_{min}/C_{max}$ ) of 0.0085/0.135 mmol/L] are likely to be adequate for the inhibition of HIV-1 *in vivo*, when combined with an appropriate nucleoside analogue.

#### 5. Conclusions

Hydroxyurea is an old drug for which new uses have been found. Because hydroxyurea's doselimiting toxicity in cancer chemotherapy is myelosuppression, larger doses are now possible with concommitant haematopoietic growth factor. Hydroxyurea is currently the only drug approved for the treatment of sickle-cell anaemia. The drug is also promising in the treatment of HIV infection. Despite the long history of hydroxyurea use, much is still unknown.

The effect of pathophysiological changes on the pharmacokinetics, metabolic pathway and other routes of elimination, and the precise hydroxyurea concentration range required to increase cellular response to nucleoside analogs in both cancer and HIV infection are among the unknown properties of hydroxyurea. Elucidation of these and other properties should lead to improved and more widespread use of this versatile drug.

#### References

- Dresler WFC, Stein R. Uber den hydroxhylarnstoff. Justus Liebigs Ann Chem Pharm 1869; 150: 242-52
- Rosenthal F, Wislicki L, Kollek L. Uber die Beziehungen von schwersten Blutgiften zu Abbauprodukten des Eiweisses: ein Betrag zum Entstehungsmechanismus der perniziosen Anamie. Klin Wochenschr 1928; 7: 972-7
- Stearns B, Losee KA, Bernstein J. Hydroxyurea: a new type of potential antitumor agent. J Med Chem 1963; 6: 201
- Yarbro JW, Kennedy BJ, Barnum CP. Hydroxyurea inhibition of DNA synthesis in ascites tumor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1965; 53: 1033-5
- Yarbro JW. Mechanism of action of hydroxyurea. Semin Oncol 1992; 19 (3 Suppl. 9): 1-10
- Krakoff IH, Brown NC, Reichard P. Inhibition of ribonucleoside diphosphate reductase by hydroxyurea. Cancer Res 1968; 28: 1559-65

- Wright JA, Chan AK, Choy BK, et al. Regulation and drug resistance mechanisms of mammalian ribonucleotide reductase, and the significance to DNA systems. Biochem Cell Biol 1990; 68 (12): 1364-71
- Stubbe J. Ribonucleotide reductases. Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol 1990; 63: 3494-19
- Lassmann G, Liermann B. ESR studies of structure and kinetics of radicals from hydroxyurea: an antitumor drug directed against ribonucleotide reductase. Free Radic Biol Med 1989; 6 (3): 241-4
- Graslund A, Ehrenberg A, Thelander L. Characterization of the free radical of mammalian ribonucleotide reductase. J Biol Chem 1982; 257 (10): 5711-5
- Elford HL, Wampler GL, vant Riet B. New ribonucleotide reductase inhibitors with antineoplastic activity. Cancer Res 1979; 39: 844-51
- Davidson JD, Winter TS. A method of analyzing for hydroxyurea in biological fluids. Cancer Chemother Rep 1963; 27: 97-110
- Philips FS, Sternberg SS, Schwartz HS, et al. Hydroxyurea I. Acute cell death in proliferating tissues in rats. Cancer Res 1967; 27: 61-75
- Fabricius E, Rajewsky MF. Determination of hydroxyurea in mammalian tissues and blood. Rev Eur Etud Clin Biol 1971; 16 (7): 679-83
- Tracewell WG, Trump DL, Vaughan WP, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in cancer patients. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1995; 35 (5): 417-22
- Veale D, Cantwell BMJ, Kerr N, et al. Phase I study of hydroxyurea in lung cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1988; 21 (1): 53-6
- Havard J, Grygiel J, Sampson D. Determination by high-performance liquid chromatography of hydroxyurea in human plasma. J Chromatogr 1992; 584: 27-4
- Villani P, Maserati R, Regazzi MB, et al. Pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 36: 117-21
- Pujari MP, Barrientos A, Muggia FM, et al. Determination of hydroxyurea in plasma and peritoneal fluid by high-performance liquid chromatography using electrochemical detection. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 1997; 694 (1): 185-91
- El-Yazigi A, Al-Rawithi S. Analysis of hydroxyurea in capsules and aqueous solution and stability study with capillary gas chromatography and therminonic (N-P) detection. Pharm Res 1992; 9 (1): 115-8
- Evered DF, Selhi HS. Transport characteristics of two carcinostatic compounds, hydroxyurea and hadacidin, with rat small intestine [abstract]. Biochem J 1972; 126: 26P
- Adamson RH, Ague SL, Hess SM, et al. The distribution, excretion, and metabolism of hydroxyurea-<sup>14</sup>C. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1965; 150 (2): 322-4
- Tracewell WG, Vaughan WP, Gwilt PR. Pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in the rat [abstract]. Pharm Res 1992; 9 Suppl.: S260
- Belt RJ, Haas CD, Kennedy J, et al. Studies of hydroxyurea administered by continuous infusion: toxicity, pharmacokinetics and cell synchronization. Cancer 1980; 46 (3): 455-62
- Morgan JS, Creasey DC, Wright JA. Evidence that the antitumor agent hydroxyurea enters mammalian cells by a diffusion mechanism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1986; 134 (3): 1254-9
- Blasberg RG, Patlack C, Fenstermacher JD. Intrathecal chemotherapy: brain tissue profiles after ventriculocisternal perfusion. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1975; 195: 73-83

- Beckloff GL, Lerner HJ, Frost D, et al. Hydroxyurea (NSC-32065) in biologic fluids: dose-concentration relationship. Cancer Chemother Rep 1965; 48: 57-8
- Colvin M, Bono VH. The enzymatic reduction of hydroxyurea to urea by mouse liver. Cancer Res 1970; 30 (5): 1516-9
- Andrae U. Evidence for the involvement of cytochrome P-450 dependent monooxygenase (S) in the formation of genotoxic metabolites from N-hydroxyurea. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1984; 118 (2): 409-15
- Fishbein WN, Carbone PP. Hydroxyurea: mechanism of action. Science 1963; 142: 1069-70
- Van Den Berg CL, McGill JR, Kuhn JG, et al. Pharmacokinetics of hydroxyurea in nude mice. Anticancer Drugs 1994; 5 (5): 573-8
- Creasey WA, Capizzi RL, DeConti RC. Clinical and biochemical studies of high-dose intermittent therapy of solid tumors with hydroxyurea (NSC-32065). Cancer Chemother Rep 1970; 54 (3): 191-4
- Newman EM, Carroll M, Akman SA, et al. Pharmacokinetics and toxicity of 120-hour continuous-infusion hydroxyurea in patients with advanced solid tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1997; 39: 254-8
- Charache S, Dover GJ, Moore RD, et al. Hydroxyurea: effects on hemoglobin F production in patients with sickle cell anemia. Blood 1992; 79 (10): 2555-65
- Collins JM. Pharmacological rationales for regional drug delivery. J Clin Oncol 1984; 2: 498-504
- Guyton AC. Textbook of medical physiology. 8th ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1991: 186
- Schilsky RL, Ratain JM, Vokes EE, et al. Laboratory and clinical studies of biochemical modulation by hydroxyurea. Semin Oncol 1992; 19 (3 Suppl. 9): 84-9
- Rauscher F, Cadman E. Biochemical and cytokinetic modulation of L1210 and HL-60 cells by hydroxyurea and effect on 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine metabolism and cytotoxicity. Cancer Res 1983; 43: 2688-93
- Kubota M, Takimoto T, Tanizawa A, et al. Differential modulation of 1-beta-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine metabolism by hydroxyurea in human leukemic cell lines. Biochem Pharmacol 1988; 37 (9): 1745-9
- Schilsky RL, Williams SF, Ultmann JE, et al. Sequential hydroxyurea-cytarabine chemotherapy for refractory non-Hodgkins lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 1987; 5 (3): 419-25
- DeGramont A, Louvet C, Varette C, et al. Reversal of resistance to high-dose folinic acid (LV) and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) in metastatic colorectal cancer by hydroxyurea [abstract]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 1992; 11: 178
- Heidelberger C, Danenberg PV, Moran RG. Fluorinated pyrimidines and their nucleosides. Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol 1983; 54: 58-119
- Li JC, Kaminskas E. Progressive formulation of DNA lesions in cultured Ehrlich ascites tumor cells treated with hydroxyurea. Cancer Res 1987; 47 (11): 2755-8
- 44. Minford J, Kerrigan D, Nichols M, et al. Enhancement of the DNA breakage and cytotoxic effects of intercalating agents by treatment with sublethal doses of 1- $\beta$ -D-arabino-furanosylcytosine or hydroxyurea in L1210 cells. Cancer Res 1984; 44 (12 Pt 1): 5583-93
- Ratain MJ, Schilsky RL, Wojack BR, et al. Hydroxyurea and etoposide: *in vitro* synergy and phase I clinical trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 1988; 80 (17): 1412-6
- Swinnen LJ, Barnes DM, Fisher SG, et al. 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine and hydroxyurea production of cytotoxic synergy with cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (II) and modifi-

cation of platinum-induced DNA interstrand cross-linking. Cancer Res 1989; 49 (6): 1383-9

- Christen RD, Shalinsky DR, Howell SB. Enhancement of the loss of multiple drug resistance by hydroxyurea. Semin Oncol 1992; 19 (3 Suppl. 9): 94-100
- Snapka RM, Varshavsky A. Loss of unstably amplified dihydrofolate reductase genes from mouse cells is greatly accelerated by hydroxyurea. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1983; 80 (24): 7533-7
- Von Hoff DD, Waddelow T, Forseth B, et al. Hydroxyurea accelerates loss of extrachromosomally amplified genes from tumor cells. Cancer Res 1991; 51 (23 Pt 1): 6273-9
- Kennedy BJ. Hydroxyurea therapy in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Cancer 1972; 29 (4): 1052-6
- Sharon R, Tatrsky I, Ben-Arieh Y. Treatment of polycythemia vera with hydroxyurea. Cancer 1986; 57 (4): 718-20
- Ariel IM. Therapeutic effects of hydroxyurea: an experience with 118 patients with inoperable solid tumors. Cancer 1970; 25 (3): 705-14
- Carter SK, Wasserman TH. The chemotherapy of urologic cancer. Cancer 1975; 36: 729-47
- Mundy AR. A pilot study of hydroxyurea in hormone 'escaped' metastatic carcinoma of the prostate. Br J Urol 1982; 54: 20-5
- Hussey DH, Abrams JP. Combined therapy in advanced head and neck cancer: hydroxyurea and radiotherapy. Prog Clin Cancer 1975; 6: 79-86
- 56. Hreshchyshyn MM, Aron BS, Boronow RC, et al. Hydroxyurea or placebo combined with radiation to treat stages IIIB and IV cervical cancer confined to the pelvis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1979; 5: 317-22
- Piver MS, Vongtama V, Emrich LJ. Hydroxyurea plus pelvic radiation versus placebo plus pelvic radiation in surgically staged state IIIB cervical cancer. J Surg Oncol 1987; 35 (2): 129-34
- Layton AM, Sheehan-Dare RA, Goodfile MJ, et al. Hydroxyurea in the management of therapy resistant psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 1989; 121 (5): 647-53
- Lori F, Malykh A, Cara A, et al. Hydroxyurea as an inhibitor of human immunodeficiency virus-type 1 replication. Science 1994; 266: 801-5
- Griffith KM. Hydroxyurea (NSC-32065): results of a phase I study. Cancer Chemother Rep 1964; 40: 33-6
- 61. Vaughan WP, Kris E, Vose J, et al. Phase I/II study incorporating intravenous hydroxyurea into high-dose chemotherapy for patients with primary refractory or relapsed and refractory intermediate-grade and high-grade malignant lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13 (5): 1089-95
- Donehower RC. Hydroxyurea. In: Chabner B, editor. Pharmacologic principles of cancer treatment. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1982: 269-75
- Wilson JG, Scott WJ, Ritter EJ, et al. Comparative distribution and embryotoxicity of hydroxyurea in pregnant rats and rhesus monkeys. Teratology 1975; 11 (2): 169-78
- 64. Ford SS, Shackney SE. Lethal and sublethal effects of hydroxyurea in relation to drug concentration and duration of drug exposure in sarcoma 180, *in vitro*. Cancer Res 1977; 37 (8 Pt 1): 2628-37
- Moran RE, Straus MJ. Cytokinetic analysis of L1210 leukemia after continuous infusion of hydroxyurea *in vivo*. Cancer Res 1979; 39 (5): 1616-22
- 66. Blumenreich MS, Kellihan MJ, Joseph UG, et al. Long-term intravenous hydroxyurea infusions in patients with advanced cancer: a phase I trial. Cancer 1993; 71 (9): 2828-32

- Brown PC, Tlsty TD, Schimke RT. Enhancement of methotrexate resistance and dihydrofolate reductase gene amplification by treatment of mouse 3T6 cells in hydroxyurea. Mol Cell Biol 1983; 3 (6): 1097-1107
- Dover GJ, Humphries RK, Moore JG, et al. Hydroxyurea induction of hemoglobin F production in sickle cell disease: relationship between cytotoxicity and F cell production. Blood 1986; 67 (3): 735-8
- 69. Gao WY, Johns DG, Chokekijchai S, et al. Disparate actions of hydroxyurea in potentiation of purine and pyrimidine 2',3'dideoxynucleoside activities against replication of human immunodeficiency virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92: 8333-7
- Malley SD, Grange JM, Hamedi-Sangsari F, et al. Synergistic anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 effect of hydroxamate compounds with 2,3-dideoxyinosine in infected resting human lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91: 11017-21
- Giacca M, Zanussi S, Comar M, et al. Treatment of human immunodeficiency virus infection with hydroxyurea: virologic and clinical evaluation. J Infect Dis 1996; 174: 204-9
- Simonelli C, Nasti G, Vaccher E, et al. Hydroxyurea treatment in HIV-infected patients. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1996; 13: 462-4

- Biron F, Lucht F, Peyramond D, et al. Anti-HIV activity of the combination of didanosine and hydroxyurea in HIV-1-infected individuals. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1995; 10: 36-40
- Vila J, Biron F, Nugier F, et al. 1-year follow-up of the use of hydroxycarbamide and didanosine in HIV infection. Lancet 1996; 348 (9021): 203-4
- Montaner JSG, Zala C, Conway B, et al. A pilot study of hydroxyurea among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) disease receiving chronic didanosine therapy: Canadian HIV trials network protocol 080. J Infect Dis 1997; 175: 801-6
- Malley SD, Grange JM, Hamedi-Sangsari F, et al. Suppression of HIV production in resting lymphocytes by combining didanosine and hydroxamate compounds [abstract]. Lancet 1994; 343: 1292

Correspondence and reprints: Dr *William Tracewell*, MDS Harris, 621 Rose Street, Lincoln, NE 68502, USA. E-mail: bgt@mdsharris.com